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 Part I of this series discussed the trends that led to the 

appearance of Marshalltown, a settlement of free African 

Americans in Mannington Township. Though 

fragmentary, it has earned a 

place on the National Register of 

Historic Places for its role in 

nineteenth-century free African 

American settlements, for the 

enterprising leadership of 

Thomas Marshall, for the 

surviving architecture associated 

with African Americans, and for 

the potential to yield information 

in the future. This article will tell 

the story of Marshalltown after 

the death of Thomas Marshall. 

 Thomas Marshall put down 

his will the same day as his 

death, September 21, 1856, at 

age 53. It seemed a sudden 

death, but the cause was not 

apparent. His 90 acres of land 

were burdened by seven partially 

paid mortgages. Despite 

Marshall’s due diligence in 

paying two-thirds of his debts, 

and his optimism that rents from 

his lands would pay them off, 

two years later, creditors went to 

court to recover some $2,800.  

At a public auction in 1858, Lott 

Jaquette, his white neighbor 

across the road, was the high 

bidder.  With this loss to his 

widow Mary Marshall, any  

dream of passing on his wealth to his heirs died, and 

Marshallville (as it was known then) entered a new era. 

No other African American in Marshallville would ever 

match Thomas Marshall’s achievements, but many others 

would become landowners and continue to labor on 

farms, in the meadows, and in the marl pits.     

 Once a major black franchise, most of the land around 

Marshallville returned to white control.  Mary Marshall 

managed to hold onto a quarter-acre house lot in Samuel 

Hackett’s subdivision on 

Church Street. She lived on in 

this house with her adopted 

daughter Elizabeth Shields 

and her gardener husband, 

Daniel.  Mary, once an 

independent farmer, was 

reduced to service in the 

Salem City home of a retired 

Mannington farmer Joseph 

Bilderback.  As an eighteen-

year-old apprentice farmer in 

1860, Thomas Marshall, Jr. 

lived in the household of 

Quaker farmer David Bassett, 

who had witnessed his 

father’s will.  “Apprentice” 

implied an indenture, an 

unfree arrangement that may 

have been part of Mary 

Marshall’s strategy for 

survival without her husband 

or their farm.  Worth money 

to her, it must have been a 

humiliation for young 

Thomas, who had known 

economic freedom and 

privilege.  He registered for 

the Civil War Draft, but did 

not serve.  He disappeared 

from the record after he 

registered for the     
                        

Marshalltown: Landscape of 
Emancipation 

Part II: White Hegemony and Expansion 

By Janet L. Sheridan 

Marshallville in 1849, two years after church building. 

African ME Church is located where the African Union 

Church is, and the AME is probably the next building down, 

but not labeled. The cluster at the corner is the early 

subdivision by Samuel Hackett. John Wesley’s house is 

called out, but not Thomas Marshall’s. Josiah Ale, a white, 

was the Kates Meadow Company manager in the 1850s. The 

meadow crossing was completed with Hook Bridge built in 

1848. Marl pits are in operation on an upper reach of Horne 

Run. The prevalence of the Quaker Bassett family in the 

vicinity is noticeable. Source: A Map of the Counties of Salem 

and Gloucester, New Jersey from the Original Surveys by  

Alexander C. Stansbie, James Keily, and Samuel M Rea. 

Phila: Smith & Wistar, 1849. 

(continued on page 6)  

  



 

 

Acquisitions .................................... 10 

Alexander’s Annals ........................... 4 

Annual Appeal .................................. 3 

Annual Dinner ................................... 5 

Become a Member .......................... 11 

Board of Trustees and Staff ............. 11  

Calendar of Events ............................ 3 

Collections Spotlight ....................... 10 

Corporate Sponsors ......................... 11 

Marshalltown Article ......... Cover, 6-7  

Genealogically Speaking ................... 8 
John S. Rock Donors ......................... 4 

Marshalltown Article ......... Cover, 6-7  

Membership Report........................... 5 

Message from the Administrator ....... 2 

Society News/Recent Events ............. 3 

Volunteers  ........................................ 5 
 

Inside this issue: 

Page 2                     Quarterly Newsletter                      Spring 2014  

Message From the Administrator 

Please Recycle your Newsletter 

The Quarterly Newsletter is  
published by the Salem County 

Historical Society  

spring, summer, fall and winter. 

 
Mission Statement: The mission of 
the Salem County Historical Society 
is to seek, document, preserve, 
interpret and perpetuate Salem 
County's heritage, and to enhance the 
awareness and appreciation of that 
heritage, through its research, 
collections, functions, exhibits, 
educational programs and 
publications, for the benefit of future 
generations and for the betterment of 
the community. 

 
Research Library & Museum 

Hours 
Tuesday through Saturday    

12 Noon - 4 PM 
Admission Fee $5.00 

Free for Members 
www.salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com 

 
Address Correspondence to: 

Salem County Historical Society 
83 Market Street 

Salem, New Jersey 08079 
Tel. (856) 935-5004 
Fax: (856) 935-0728 

 
This publication may include 
historical materials that contain 
language or stereotypes reflecting the 
culture or language of a particular 
period or place.  These items are 
presented as part of the historical 
record. 

With the holidays over, it is fully winter here in Salem County.  This year, that 

has meant bitter cold weather and snow.  Inside the walls of the Historical 

Society, all is warm and active (it is warm largely because we had our heating 

system repaired in the fall, and we who work here on a daily basis are very 

grateful to our members whose support allowed us to accomplish this).  Spring is 

just around the corner, and we are deep in planning for warm weather activities.  

The Spring Open House Tour and bus trip to Gettysburg in May are already on 

our minds. 

But before I get to that, I should mention that the Society had a wonderful 

holiday season this year.  As we do every year, we were open free to the public 

for the annual Yuletide Tour, and well over one hundred people came to visit us 

and see our exhibits.  The Society was festively decorated courtesy of our 

Administrative Assistant Richard Guido.  The decorations, along with the recent 

renovations to the Grant Parlor and the new paint on our exterior really made 

the Society look lovely. 

We are pleased with the response we have received so far to this year’s Annual 

Appeal.  The great generosity and support we have enjoyed is vital to all the 

things both great and small that we do here.  The aforementioned painting of 

our exterior and the internal renovations are large examples, and the repairs to 

our heating system are smaller.  All are essential to our operations and to the 

preservation and exhibition of our collections. 

In addition to the Gettysburg bus trip and the Open House Tour, the coming of 

spring will bring about new exhibits to the Society.  This past fall, it was the great 

good fortune of the Society to take possession of an extremely generous 

donation of furniture from Nancy Fogg.  These furnishings and some archival 

materials will form the basis of “The Legacy of Edward T. and Nancy B. Fogg” 

exhibit here at the Society starting in April.  This exhibit will not only feature 

materials collected by the Foggs, but accentuate their lifelong interest in Salem 

County history and their commitment to the Historical Society and the 

preservation of it collections.   

The New Year also marks the 130th Anniversary of the founding of the Salem 

County Historical Society.  Throughout the year, the Society will commemorate 

this with various activities that will highlight both the history of the region 

during that period, and the history of the Society itself.   

We look forward to these exciting developments in the coming months.  As 

always, we greatly appreciate the generous support of members like you who 

make all such activities possible. 

 

   Andrew Coldren 

http://www.salemcounty.com/schs
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Society News and Recent Events 

In October the Society had the 

exterior of our Grant House 

headquarters painted.  The 

house looks fresh and period 

appropriate. We thank C.W. 

Painting for their efforts on our 

behalf. 

In the fall of last year, the 

Museum Committee solicited 

the help of Richard Slavin to 

select historically accurate 

fabrics for new curtains in the 

Grant parlor and bedroom.  

Tacie Trull made and installed 

the curtains for us.  This was 

part of the room renovation 

project we have been working 

on for some months.  We thank 

both Tacie and Richard for the 

assistance. 

The Historical Society once 

again participated in the annual 

Yuletide Tour in Salem.  This 

festive event brought many 

visitors to us from around the 

region.  Many thanks to the 

staff and volunteers who came 

in and acted as hosts for the 

event. 

 

Planning is well underway for 

this year’s Open House Tour, 

Saturday, May 3, 2014.  This is 

a wonderful opportunity to see 

some of the beautiful and 

historic properties in our area.  

Look for more information on 

our website and Facebook page 

in the coming weeks. 

Due to the recent government 

shutdown, the bus trip to 

Gettysburg the Society had 

planned for October has been 

rescheduled for May 7, 2014.  

Seats are still available for this 

informative trip. On two of the 

stops on the trip we will be 

honoring the Salem County 

men who fought at the battle. 

The Society is pleased to have 

two interns, Julia Harrison and 

Amanda Pierce, working on the 

ongoing grant funded project to 

inventory our entire Museum 

collection.  This project is vital 

for creating digital records of 

our collection and we 

appreciate the hard work Julia 

and Amanda are doing. 

 

Calendar of Events  
  Sunday, March 9, 2014 

    Quarterly Meeting 1:30PM Friends Village in Woodstown 

    Speaker from the Alice Paul Institute of Paulsdale  

         Topic: Alice Paul: New Jersey’s Heroine for Equality    

   Saturday, May 3, 2014                                                               

         Salem County Open House Tour 10:00AM-4:00PM                                      

   Thursday, July 31, 2014 

     130th Anniversary coffee and cake open house  

         1:00PM- 4:00PM 

   Saturday, April 12, 2014  

         Upcoming exhibit opens: 

         “The Legacy of Edward T. and Nancy B. Fogg”    
   May 7, 2014 

    Gettysburg Bus Trip 7:00AM 

   June 8, 2014 

    Quarterly Meeting 1:30PM Friends Village in Woodstown 

    Speaker and Topic: To be announced 

Donald W. Albertson 

Mary C. Arnold 

Gwen D. Art 

Joanne and Russell Bassett 

Dr. Suzanne Geissler Bowles 

Gail S. Boyd 

Shirley & Robert Brooks 

Joan Miller Brown 

Gretchen and Harlan Buzby 

CMSGT William B. Camp 

Mr. and Mrs. David S. Campbell 

Camden County Historical Society 

John S. Carpenter 

James M. Covey, Jr. 

Cowtown Rodeo 

Suzanne and David Culver 

Fred & Barbara DePalma 

John and Jean Donaldson 

Mr. and Mrs. Brian Duffy 

Mr. & Mrs. Charles R. Erhardt, Jr. 

James Eyler 

Frank Leonards & Frank 

Harvest Community Bank 

William J. Gallo, Jr. 

Trudy K. O'Hare 

Charlotte and Charles Harrison 

Grant and Kim Hitchner 

John and Wanda Hofbauer 

Mike and Lynn Hopp 

William C. Horner 

Joann Humphrey 

Jean Hepner Jack 

Margaret Hilliard Johnson 

Mr. and Mrs. J. Gill Lippincott 

Philip Correll and Ronald Magill 

Maggie Maxwell-Mood 

Mannington Mills 

A. Thomas and Barbara J. Miller 

John F. Montaigne, Jr. 

Ellen Morrissey 

Dr. and Mrs. Lawrence B. Owen 

Marion H. Patrick 

J. Lewis Powell 

Syndey Riddle 

Mr. & Mrs. Theodore Ridgway, Jr. 

Gary M. Salber 

Craig and Gaynel Schneeman 

Marie A. Schuster 

B. Harold Smick, Jr. 

Nancy Spangler 

Marjory Standiford 

Walter L. Stewart 

St. John's Episcopal Church 

Dr. William K. Stoms, Jr. 

Lois Strang 

John D. Streetz 

Travis O. Thompson 

Joel & Faith Vittori 

Alice W. Waddington 

Warner & Company, CPAs 

Walter B. Wheatley 

Jeffrey Wood 

Jonathan E. Wood, Jr. 

Beverly A. Woodlin 

Bob & Mary Woodruff 

Daniel Wright 

Elizabeth H. Yerkes 

 

Spring Quarterly 
Meeting    

1:30PM at Friends 
Village in Woodstown 

  A Speaker from the Alice Paul Institute of Paulsdale will 
discuss the following topic:  

   Alice Paul, New Jersey’s Heroine for Equality           

2013 Annual Appeal                                                                    
The Salem County Historical Society is extremely grateful to all those 

who contributed to our Annual Appeal.  Your contributions support 

our efforts to maintain our facilities, create new exhibits, and 

preserve and conserve our objects, books and archival materials.  

We thank you! 
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The Salem County Historical Society’s Open House 

in Fenwick’s Colony  

The Salem County Historical Society’s Open House in 

Fenwick’s Colony tour committee is pleased to announce that 

plans for the annual spring open house tour are well under 

way.  This year the tour will be held on Saturday, May 3rd, 

from 10a.m. to 4p.m. 

And did you know that New Jersey is celebrating our 350th 

anniversary in 2014?  In honor of our state’s anniversary, the 

Open House in Fenwick’s Colony tour will be participating in 

the yearlong schedule of events celebrating our great state.  

New Jersey began in 1664 as a royal gift.  When John 

Fenwick and his company arrived in 1673 they found a place 

that was already relatively diverse in its inhabitants.  In 

addition to Native American populations, Swedish and Dutch 

settlers had made the journey to what would become the 

Garden State.  Certainly the architecture found in Salem 

County reflects this great diversity and rich history, few 

places in our nation can boast of the gems found right here 

and the 2014 tour will highlight a few of those gems.   

We are excited to include Obisquahassit, located on 

Sinnickson Lane in Pennsville, on the tour this year.  The 

land was purchased by Anders Seneca from Chief 

Qbisquahassit in 1640.  Family members lived in log type 

housing until the 1670’s when a brick kiln was constructed 

and work began on the earliest part of the current structure.  

The farm remained in the Sinnickson family until 1973 and is 

considered New Jersey’s oldest working farm and Salem 

County’s oldest residence.  Currently owned and farmed by 

Lisa and Patrick Lloyd, proprietors of Obis One, the land 

remains a family-owned and operated farm whose flagship 

product is organic black garlic. 

Please be sure to mark your calendars for May 3rd and join us 

as we celebrate New Jersey’s 350th anniversary and the 

Salem County Historical Society’s 130th anniversary!  We 

hope that you will support the Salem County Historical 

Society by becoming a Patron of the Tour.  Your generous 

donation of $50.00 will bring you two (2) tickets to the Open 

House in Fenwick’s Colony tour and your name will be listed 

in our tour booklet.  Members can also purchase additional 

tickets at the advance price of $15.00 each.  Please contact 

the Society for more information.  Thank you and hope to see 

you in May! 

2013 CONTRIBUTORS 
 

JOHN S. ROCK 

LECTURE & MEMORIAL FUND 

 Anonymous 

Gretchen & Harlan Buzby 

Elizabeth G. Carpenter 

 JPMorgan Chase & Co. 

Robert & Joanne Davis 

Sue Dolbow 

Charlotte & Charles Harrison 

Lois Ann Kirby 

Ann Leaming 

Lorraine Leaming 

Ellen Morrissey 

Trudy K. O’Hare 

Dr. & Mrs. Lawrence B. Owen 

Joyce Richardson 

Patricia A. Smith 

Alice W. Waddington 

ALEXANDER’S ANNALS 

50 YEARS AGO 

Monitor-Register, March 1964 

♦ Mrs. Charles Biernbaum is chairman of the Red Cross 

 drive in Woodstown. 

♦ Woodstown on TV—“Meet Your Neighbor”—WRCV-

 TV Philadelphia. 

♦ Junior Bowling Program started at Wood Lanes. 
♦ Norman Scheule named president of Woodstown  

 Little League. 

♦ Richard Golden family reunion—All 12 children 

 present—at Sharptown.  

 

75 YEARS AGO 
Salem Standard & Jerseyman, March 1939 

♦ YMCA Building Dedication—Carney’s Point—Largest 

 Industrial “Y” in the United States. 

♦ Howard Klin, Nationally Famous Hypnotist & Salem 

 Native—Booked for local return engagement.     

♦ Anchor Hocking moving a 120 foot high, 100,000 

 gallon  water tower, a distance of 700 feet—intact.     

♦ Police Department created in LPN   

♦ Memorial Service for Pope Pius XI at Oheh Sholem 

 Synagogue, Salem.   

 

100 YEARS AGO 

Penn’s Grove Record, March 1914 

♦ V. S. Homan, 311 Delaware Ave.,—Gasoline by the 

 gallon or barrel—batteries, oils and electric supplies.  

♦ The Town Hall at Pole Tavern was destroyed by fire.   

♦ Skeletons of five Indians unearthed in Friends’ Burial 

 Ground by Charles Fithian. 

♦ William Lawson uncovers, at the fire house, a Union 

 Fire Company bucket marked “Union 1748”.   

♦ White muskrat caught near Canton brought to Salem to 

 be mounted.   
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Volunteers 

J. Harlan Buzby 

Michael J. Cooke 

Dave Culver 

Fred De Palma 

Bruce Doerr 

Barbara Smith Duffy 

Brian M. Duffy 

Dottie Fisher 

William J. Gallo, Jr. 

Wayne Gotwals  

Charles Harrison 

Charlotte Harrison  

Katherine Heverin 

Peggy Kavanaugh  

Noel Kemm 

Joe Kimber 

Judy Kimber 

Ronald E. Magill 

Craig Maue 

Margaret E. Maxwell-

Mood 

Ellen Morrissey 

Trudy K. O’Hare 

Lawrence B. Owen 

Dawn Perez 

Donald L. Pierce 

Frank Powell 

Bill Saunderlin 

Craig Schneeman 

Gay Schneeman 

Janet Sheridan  

Diane Wohlrab   

Membership Report 

Individual 

Carl Boone 

James Brubaker 

Mary E. Buckwalter 

Arvie Clement 

Peg Danner 

Francis Hildreth 

Russ MacAusland 

Joseph Mannella 

Peg Marshall 

Carol Perruso 

Valerie Robinson 

Susan Slim 

Geneva Wood 

 

Student 

Amanda Pierce 

Mr. and Mrs. Robert Arnold 

Franklin Bank 

Mrs. Michelle Baron 

Joanne and Russell Bassett 

Marjorie Bill 

Honorable Bruce L. Bobbitt, 
Freeholder 

Susan K. Breslin 

Robert Brooks 

Louise G. Brown 

Dr. and Mrs. J. Harlan Buzby 

Asa and Ann Cadwallader 

David S. Campbell 

John S. Carpenter Jr. and 
Emilie W. Carpenter 

Ricardo Ben Safed and William 
Clossey 

Michael and Suzanne Cooke 

Dave and Suzanne Culver 

Dorothy Davis 

Francis and Sue Dolbow 

Barbara Dawson and Ronald 
Dorrell 

Ronald Driscoll 

Mr. and Mrs. Brian Duffy 

Gerald W. Eddis 

John J. Elk 

Patricia G. Elwell 

Kristen Dahl and Bucky Erhardt 

Abigail and Charles Erhardt, Jr. 

Charles Erhardt III 

Ruth Flemming 

Mrs. Dorothy Fisher 

Frank Leonards & Frank  

William J. Gallo, Jr. 

Anthony J. Gismonde, Jr. 

Mrs. Ivy S. Glass 

Dolores Gralley 

Charles and Marie Haaf 

Mary Hancock 

Charlotte and Charles Harrison 

Joan Hassler 

John and Wanda Hofbauer 

William and Marilyn Horner 

Joann Humphrey 

Carol Wright Hunter 

Heather L. Johnson 

Marie G. Johnson 

Eugene Jones 

Frank Jones 

Marcia and James Kates 

Peggy Kavanaugh 

Margaret C. Klein 

Ann and Jim Lloyd 

Philip Correll and Ronald Magill 

Gail Malson 

Jane Maltman 

Tom and Barbara Miller 

Mannington Mills 

Dr. Maggie Maxwell-Mood 

Adele Moore 

Ellen Morrissey 

Anna G. Muhlbaier 

Carl Nittinger 

Dennis & Trudy O'Hare 

Dr. and Mrs. Lawrence Owen 

Marion Patrick 

Barbara Smick Peterson 

Lucille B. Pote 

J. Lewis and Elizabeth L. 
Powell 

Brian Printz 

Carol Reese  

Steven and Sydney Riddle 

Sam and Laura Sadtler 

Gary M. Salber 

Donald Sharp 

Craig and Gay Schneeman 

Janet Sheridan 

John and Patty Skwirut 

Earl H. Sloane, Inc.  

Mr. B. Harold Smick, Jr. 

Kimberly and Tim Steiner 

Dr. William K. Stoms, Jr. 

Doug and Peg Tjaden 

John A. Wendell and Regina M. 
Vaccaro, M.D. 

Maggie Vaughan 

Joel Vittori 

Roberta Waddington 

Emily H. Walker 

Lee R. Ware 

Linda L. Wilson 

Ronald and Diane Wohlrab 

Robert A. Woodruff 

Elizabeth H. Yerkes 

A Special thanks to our Annual Dinner Patrons  

Salem McCarthy Brothers 

Trim McCarthy Brothers of Philly 
 The McCarthy Brothers won the basket ball game at 

Erhardt’s Hall on Saturday night. It was a case of the 

McCarthy’s couldn’t lose for the local family of athletes 

was playing a team of brothers of the same name of 

Philadelphia. The latter lost 37-28. 

 Harry McCarthy, of Salem, was the star of the 

evening. He landed eight field goals and converted two of 

three foul shots for a total of 18 points. Brother Gene 

tallied 10 points, all on field goals. Justine got one and 

Jack landed two. This made a total of 16 field goals for 

the Salem McCarthy’s. 

 Jim McCarthy led the invaders with 10 points, while 

his brother, Frank, got six. Nine field goals was the 

team’s total. 

 The Salem lineup was: Gene, Harry, Justine, Jack, 

Eddie, Charles and Joe McCarthy. 

 The Phillies presented Jim, Tim, Frank, Tom and Dan 

McCarthy, and before the game was over called in two 

subs, Burns and Gallagher. The team worked decidedly 

better with the latter two in the lineup. 
Salem Standard & Jerseyman, Salem, NJ, February 23, 1939 
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(continued from cover)  

Civil War draft in 1863. Eldest son Jacob Marshall and 

his wife Ellen, age 20 years in 1860, shared a house with 

another black couple nearby and worked as farm labor.    
By 1880 Jacob and Ellen had made their way to 

Philadelphia where Jacob drove a wagon.  The little bit of 

Thomas Marshall’s legacy, Mary’s house and $200 worth 

of furnishings she had retained from their farmhouse, 

lived on with Elizabeth Shields.  As soon as it was hers in 

1890, Shields rebuilt it from the ground up by hiring a 

white builder from Salem, Edward Hall.  She lived on 

until at least 1918 in the most highly valued house in 

Marshalltown, at $250.  Today there is no trace of it.           

 After the breakup of the Marshall estate, a land rush 

ensued as three white landowners with major interests in 

the Kates Creek Meadow Company and surrounding 

farms subdivided house lots ranging in size from one-

eighth to one acre along Church Street between 1860 and 

1875. These were sold to black laborers.  The first sub 

divider was Thomas Jefferson Casper, who owned one of 

the larger parcels in Kates Creek Meadow bounding on 

the west side of Church Street.  Out of a portion on barely 

dry land, he sold thirteen house lots between 1860 and 

1868.  Next, William Barber, whose wife Hannah had 

inherited a huge estate including Thomas Marshall’s 

former farm, sold eleven lots along the east side of 

Church Street between 1868 and 1870.  Thirdly, Joseph 

Matlack, who acquired Marshall’s 23-acre meadow, sold 

seven lots on the west side of Church Street between 1872 

and 1875. fhkkkffhfhhhggkhkhkkhhkhlhlh with ahfhfhgh                                                                                            

 So, in fifteen years, 31 building lots were added to 

both sides of the northerly end of Church Street.  Twenty-

five people bought one or more parcels and built houses.  

In the twenty-year period 1860 to 1880, the population of 

Marshallville increased from roughly 88 to 127, and the 

number of houses doubled from approximately 15 to 31.  

The reorganization of the Kates Creek Meadow Company 

in 1875, at the end of the subdivision explosion, may be 

the reason for the intensive subdividing and sudden influx 

of homeowning African Americans to Marshallville.  It 

appears that the meadow owners were expanding and/or 

rebuilding the banks, and in order to entice and secure a 

labor pool, sold house lots to laborers.                           

 Accompanying the post-bellum growth spurt and 

perhaps an infusion of wealth into Marshallville, both 

churches were rebuilt.  Little Bethel AME was raised to 

two stories with a gallery, and Mt. Zion AUMP was 

rebuilt from the ground up, taking eight years to 

complete.  Wood-framed and clapboarded, it presented a 

balanced Greek-temple front with three window bays on 

the nave.  A gallery spanned the entry wall, facing the 

chancel.  The walls were plastered and the ceiling clad 

with joined boards.  Both churches hired white builders 

from Salem, as did several homeowners in the village.  

Builders’ liens reveal their choices: two-story frame 

houses, two of which were 24 feet in front and 12 feet 

deep (two rooms wide), and one was 12 feet wide and 16 

feet deep (one room wide).  One prospering laborer, 

William H. Thomas, and his wife Sarah Jane, both from 

Maryland, bought twelve acres in 1878 and rebuilt an old, 

hewn, one-story frame 14 feet wide and 13 feet deep. 

They doubled the length and added a second story.  By its 

surviving finishes, it was probably among the finest 

houses built in Marshalltown.  Its clapboarded exterior 

versus the shingled walls of other houses, the plastered 

walls, boarded ceilings, and beaded trim achieved a                                                      

middle-class taste.  Perhaps more durable than most, it 

alone survives among the nineteenth century houses built 

in the  village.    

Marshallville in 1875. The road crossed the meadow on a causeway 

and on a bridge over the Salem River to Pennsville. The map shows 

only one African Church, yet there were two at this time. The Bassett 

family is still prevalent.  Marl pits are still in operation. (Everts & 

Stewart. Combination Atlas Map of Salem & Gloucester Counties, 

New Jersey.) 

William H. and Sarah J. Thomas House, built 1885 and the last 

surviving nineteenth century house in Marshalltown.                             
           Photo © Janet L. Sheridan  
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 Late nineteenth-century prosperity fed the 

establishment of a Grand United Order of Odd Fellows 

lodge and its female counterpart, a House of Ruth.  The 

lodge built a hall across from Mt. Zion Church that was 

also used for church celebrations and meals.  In 1900, the 

population peaked at about 145 and the number of houses 

peaked at about 33. A post office was established around 

1880 and Marshallville became Marshalltown. Thomas 

Marshall’s store had a succession of proprietors and a 

second store was opened.  Marshalltown had become a 

substantial community with black-initiated commercial, 

religious, educational and social institutions.   

 The twentieth century brought conflicting changes.  In 

1926, Mt. Zion Church seized an opportunity to expand 

African American land ownership, buying an 18-acre 

piece of a bankrupted historically white-owned farm, 

creating a subdivision, and selling twenty lots between 

1934 and 1946.  Church Street was renamed Roosevelt 

Avenue during the 1930s as Marshalltowners found work 

under WPA programs.           

 At the same time, economic and environmental 

changes led to the demise of this inhabited landscape.  

Hook Bridge over the Salem River was damaged by a 

runaway barge in 1921 and never repaired, eliminating 

the route across the meadow into Pennsville. The Great 

Depression contributed to farm bankruptcies and the 

inability of farmers to repair storm-damaged banks. The 

tides increasingly ate away at the banks and flooded the 

cultivated meadows.  Truck farming was becoming more 

prevalent, for which the meadows were not suited.  

Demand for meadow labor fell off, water tables rose, and 

house lots became swamps. Starting in the 1920s, the 

DuPont power and dye works in Carney’s Point 

Township became the chief employer of 

Marshalltowners. The school house that was built on 

Thomas Marshall’s farm was moved to higher ground in 

1934 but it closed in 1951 when Mannington Township 

built a consolidated school.  Between increasing 

inhabitability in Marshalltown, and improving 

opportunities elsewhere, especially after the Civil Rights 

Era, people left. All but a few houses gradually 

disappeared from abandonment, fires, foreclosures and 

demolitions.               

 Once a place where First Emancipation played out, 

Marshalltown incubated a self-developing, autonomous 

community in the spirit of African Methodism, one we 

should remember, honor, and preserve. The author invites 

readers to contact her at janet@sheridanpreservation.com 

to begin to discuss ways to do that, or to share 

information about Marshalltown’s history. 

© 2014 Janet L. Sheridan 

Research was supported in part with grants from the New 

Jersey Historical Commission, Department of State. 

Mt. Zion AUMP Church, the “Mother Church of the Philadelphia and 

New Jersey Districts.” It was rebuilt in 1879 for a large congregation 

and still holds worship.         Photo © Janet L. Sheridan  

Marshalltown School. Built circa 1850, moved in 1934, and closed in 

1951. A key contributing resource in the new historic district, it is 

owned and preserved by the township.   Photo © Janet L. Sheridan  

 —The daughter [Rosetta] of Fred. Douglass, the 

newly-appointed Marshal for the District of 

Columbia, taught the Yorke Street colored school, 

in this city, some years ago. His son, William, now a 

printer, for some years employed at the Government 

Printing Office, also kept a restaurant under [the] 

Rumsey Building, at about the same time. 
National Standard, Salem, NJ, March 28, 1877 

mailto:janet@sheridanpreservation.com
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Collections Spotlight 

We have discovered a very unusual artifact in the Society’s third floor Rumsey 

attic space as we continue the ongoing  Museum Inventory Project.  If you have 

any ideas about this object please e-mail info@salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com. 

 

What we know:  This artifact was found separate from any other items and the 

curved metal rim has a width of about 6”.  Both ends of the rim have two metal 

springs or extensions attached to their ends. Along with these springs are two 

pieces of jewelry that look like small leaves which we believe were added on to 

the piece at a later point in time. Only one of these leaves is still attached to the 

spring. Our best assumption so far is that this artifact is some type of hair piece 

perhaps used by women during the Victorian era when elaborate hair styles were high in fashion. There is, however, some evidence 

to suggest that some electrical work or soldering was done to connect the metal rim to the springs themselves which would likely 

rule out the artifact being used as a hair piece. 

What we would like your help with: What is the purpose of this artifact?  Does it have anything to do with hair? 

Library Acquisitions 

Beam, John C. IV, Spokane, WA.  Binder of Simon String 
transcribed Civil War Diary. (2013.077) 

Buzby, Dr. J. Harlan, Pennsville, NJ. Program of Ardagh 
Group Glass Factory, Plant 6-Salem, NJ 2013 Open House. 
(2013.071) 

Buzby, Dr. J. Harlan, Pennsville, NJ. (Courtesy of Vincent 
Golden and Joe Felcone)                                                      
Photocopies of 3 issues of The Observer Salem, NJ dated 
1799. 

Dolbow, Sue, Pilesgrove, NJ. Collection of medicine bottle 
labels from W.H. Andrews & Co. and McCoubrie Pharmacy 
in Salem. (2013.080) 

Dolbow, Sue, Pilesgrove, NJ. Program of Penton Chapel’s 
200th Anniversary Celebration. (2013.066) 

Dolbow, Sue, Pilesgrove, NJ. 2012 Salem County Fair 
program booklet. (2013.079)   

Morrissey, Ellen, Pennsville, NJ. Book titled Upper 
Pittsgrove, Elmer, and Pittsgrove by Bonnie Beth Elwell. 
(2013.069) 

Nittinger, Carl E., Salem, NJ. The Carriage Journal with 
article on Salem County Historical Society barn and 
carriages. (2013.065) 

Romansky, Thomas S., Pennsville, NJ. DVD of  9/11 
Remembrance Ceremony for 2013. (2013.051) 

Romansky, Thomas S., Pennsville, NJ. DVD of  Historic 
Soldier’s Weekend at Ft. Mott, NJ on September 28-29, 
2013. (2013.068) 

Schopp, Paul W., Palmyra, NJ. Book titled Linseed Oil 
Mills in New Jersey 1732-1955 with a chapter on Salem 
County mill. (2013.070) 

On Saturday, April 12, 

2014, the Salem County 

Historical Society will 

proudly open its new 

exhibit, “The Legacy of 

Edward T. and Nancy B. 

Fogg.”  This exhibit will 

celebrate the Foggs’ 

lifelong passion for Salem 

County history and 

material culture as well as 

their decades of support of 

the Historical Society.  The 

exhibit will be held in the 

Grant House Parlor and the 

Legacy Room and will 

feature furniture, ceramics, 

glass, samplers and 

photographs donated  by 

the Foggs or conserved 

using funds from the Fogg 

Conservation Fund.  The 

Society invites all 

members and the general 

public to celebrate and 

commemorate the 

contributions of Edward 

and Nancy Fogg through 

this unique exhibit. The 

exhibit will be open 

Tuesday through Saturday, 

12:00 to 4:00 through the 

end of the year. 

The Hannah family highboy, 

now in the collection of the 

Salem County Historical 

Society.  The top and bottom of 

this piece had been separated 

for decades before being 

reunited by Edward Fogg in the 

1980’s.  For this and more 

stories of the Fogg’s legacy 

visit our exhibit starting      

April 12, 2014. 

WARE CHAIRS 

 Dan Ware [of Woodstown] is building a dwelling on his lot on 

Salem Street, opposite Elmer Gaunt’s residence. He has turned the 

large two-story building occupied as a chair factory, around 

broadside to the street, and will erect an addition in front, making a 

neat and convenient residence. We understand that when completed 

it will be occupied by his son, Lucien B. Ware, now of Haddonfield. 

The Monitor, Woodstown, NJ, August 28, 1885 

Upcoming Exhibit Opening: 

Portrait of Judge Newell—A handsomely-executed crayon portrait of 
the late Judge Newell, drawn by Mr. Ogden, can be seen in the window 
of the harness store of Asbury Howard. 

National Standard, Salem, NJ, August 21, 1878 

mailto:info@salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com


 

 

Yes, I would like to become a member of the Salem County Historical Society! 
 Name________________________________________________________       New Member        Renewal 

Address______________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip________________________________________________________________________________________________________   

Telephone__________________________________________ Email ____________________________________________________________ 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please make checks payable to the Salem County Historical Society. The Society now accepts credit card payments for 

 new memberships, renewals, and upgrades through our secure website: www.salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com  

RETURN TO: SCHS, 83 Market Street, Salem, NJ 08079 

Student      $10 

Individual    $25 

Family/Household $40 

Partner     $100 

Sustaining    $150 

Contributing   $250 

Lifetime     $500 

Please check your desired category 

We also have Business & Corporate  

Membership Opportunities! 
 

     Oak Tree Associate $100-$249 

     Pedersen Providers $250-$499 

     Goodwin Providers    $500-$999 

Fenwick Benefactors         $1000+ 

For more information on how your business can become 
members of the Society, please call 856-935-5004 
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Corporate and Business Members 

“Partnerships with History” 

 

FENWICK BENEFACTORS 
Salem County Mutual Fire Insurance Company 

The Denn House at Hancocks Bridge 

GOODWIN PROVIDERS 
DuPont Chambers Works 

PEDERSEN PROVIDERS 
Farmers Mutual Fire Insurance Company 

of Salem County 

Henry D. Young, Inc. 

Kates Realty, LLC 

Mannington Mills, Inc. 

OAK TREE ASSOCIATES 
Bob Brooks Auction Sales 

Clement Pappas & Company, Inc. 

Cowtown Rodeo 

Earl H. Sloan, Inc. 

Frank Leonards & Frank LLC 

Franklin Bank 

Harvest Community Bank 

J Givoo Consultants Inc. 

John D. Jordan, Esq. 

Morgan’s Electrical Services 

Oak Tree Chapter-NSDAR 

Warner & Company, CPAs 

 

The Society is grateful for the support 

 of our corporate and business members.  

For more information about our 

 “Partnership with History” program 

Call (856) 935-5004 or visit 

www.salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com 
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PRISONERS.—Another installment of 

rebel prisoners was sent to Fort Delaware on 

Sunday by the Major. The number there at 

this time is not less than six or seven 

thousand. Among them are a large number 

of officers.  
National Standard, Salem, NJ, March 30, 1864 

 

—The lower end of this township 

[Quinton] has a shoemaker, by the 

name of Wentzell, who has hung out 

his sign in front of Peter Shimp’s 

mansion. 

National Standard, Salem, NJ  

April 5, 1882 

A Paper Wagon 

—Joseph M. Bacon, of this city, is having a 

novel wagon built, in which to serve milk to 

his customers. The sides of the wagon are of 

heavy paper boards. The work is being done 

by F. Hand & Son, and will be the first paper 

wagon produced in this city. 

National Standard, Salem, NJ, April 26, 1882 


